## In the Supreme Court of the State of California

#### THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S201413

V.

FRANCIS MATA,

Defendant and Appellant.

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division One No. B226256 Los Angeles County Superior Court No. BA366071 The Honorable Norman J. Shapiro, Judge

#### RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUL - 9 2012

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. After appellant's successful motion under *Batson v. Kentucky* (1986) 476 U.S. 79 [106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69] and *People v. Wheeler* (1978) 22 Cal.3d 258, did his failure to object to reseating the juror indicate implied consent to this alternative remedy in lieu of dismissing the entire jury venire?
- 2. If the trial court in this case erred in reseating the prospective juror because defense counsel did not consent, was the error reversible per se or subject to harmless error analysis?

#### **INTRODUCTION**

At jury selection at appellant's trial, his counsel made a motion under Batson v. Kentucky (1986) 476 U.S. 79 [106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69] (Batson) and People v. Wheeler (1978) 22 Cal.3d 258 (Wheeler), alleging the prosecutor had exercised a peremptory challenge for a discriminatory purpose against an African-American prospective juror. The court granted the motion and reseated the prospective juror. Counsel did not object or request a new venire. Later, after the prosecutor exercised a peremptory challenge against another African-American prospective juror, defense counsel asked the juror to remain seated while he made a Batson/Wheeler motion at sidebar. The trial court characterized appellant's motion as a request to reseat the prospective juror, and it denied the motion. On appeal, the Court of Appeal found the trial court improperly reseated the prospective juror after the successful Batson/Wheeler motion without first obtaining defense counsel's waiver of a new venire and consent to the alternative remedy. The Court of Appeal reversed appellant's conviction without further discussion, implicitly finding the error to be reversible per se.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was convicted of possession of cocaine base (Health & Saf. Code, § 11350, subd. (a)) and two misdemeanor counts of resisting an officer (Pen. Code, § 148, subd. (a)(1)). During voir dire at appellant's trial, the prosecutor exercised a peremptory challenge against Prospective Juror 2473, who was sitting in seat 12 at the time. Appellant's trial counsel stated, "I ask for a side bar after she leaves." The court asked the prospective juror to remain seated. (3RT 943.) At sidebar, counsel made a Batson/Wheeler motion on the ground that the prospective juror was excused because she was African-American. Counsel argued that because neither party had questioned the prospective juror, the prosecutor had no other reason to excuse her. (3RT 943-944.) Counsel also indicated that Prospective Juror 2473 was the second African-American within the last few challenges against whom the prosecutor had used a peremptory challenge. (3RT 945.) The court asked about appellant's race. After some confusion, counsel indicated that appellant was "Mexican." (3RT 945-946.)

The court asked the prosecutor for his "thoughts" on the prospective juror. The prosecutor indicated that the prospective juror was "extremely quiet," "tuned out," and did not appear to be engaged in the proceedings. The court indicated that it had not been paying attention to the prospective juror during questioning, but it did not find that the prosecutor had a "justification" for excusing the prospective juror. The court ruled, "So I am going to disallow your challenge at this time. And I'd order that the juror remain seated." (3RT 946.) The court instructed the prosecutor that he would be permitted to use his peremptory challenge against another prospective juror. The court concluded, "And we will continue the process." (3RT 947.) Appellant's counsel did not object to the court's ruling. (3RT 946-947.)

Still at sidebar, the prosecutor noted that Prospective Juror 0207, who was in seat 16, was "coming up." (3RT 947.) Prospective Juror 0207 was an African-American woman who had indicated during voir dire that she had had negative experiences with police due to her race. (3RT 905-906, 925-926, 929.) Appellant's trial counsel stated, "We can talk about that, if you challenge her." When the prosecutor attempted to discuss the matter further, appellant's trial counsel cut him off and told the prosecutor, "Think about it." The court and clerk then discussed the order that prospective jurors had been moved from seat to seat, and neither the prosecutor nor appellant's trial counsel further addressed the reseating of Prospective Juror 2473. (3RT 947.)

Thereafter, the court addressed the jury about the order of seating, and noted that it believed Prospective Juror 0207 "in all likelihood, may be made part of the jury." The court instructed Prospective Juror 2473 to remain in seat 12. Appellant's trial counsel did not object, and jury selection resumed. (3RT 948.)

Later in voir dire, after appellant and the prosecutor had exercised other peremptory challenges, the prosecutor used a peremptory challenge to excuse Prospective Juror 0207, who was at that time in seat 8. Appellant's trial counsel stated, "Your Honor, I'd ask that she remain while we have a side bar." The court instructed the prospective juror to remain seated. (3RT 965.) At sidebar, appellant's trial counsel made another *Batson/Wheeler* motion. (3RT 966.) Noting that the prospective juror "did talk about some issues," the court asked the prosecutor to give his reasons for excusing the prospective juror, although the court specified that the defense had not made a prima facie case of purposeful discrimination. (3RT 966-967.) The prosecutor explained that he excused the prospective juror because she had expressed her opinion that the standard of beyond a reasonable doubt required 100 percent certainty, and because she had

nodded her head in agreement with another prospective juror when that juror said street drugs should be legalized. (3RT 967.) Appellant's trial counsel argued that the prosecutor's reasons were pretextual. (3RT 967-969.) The court disagreed and found that the prosecutor had properly exercised a peremptory challenge against the prospective juror. (3RT 968-970.) Counsel complained that the prosecutor had excused another African-American juror. (3RT 968, 970.)<sup>1</sup> The court reminded counsel that it had granted his Batson/Wheeler motion as to one African-American juror and that counsel had not made any other Batson/Wheeler motions. (3RT 970.) The court reiterated its finding that the prosecutor had a raceneutral justification for exercising a peremptory challenge against Prospective Juror 0207. (3RT 970-972.) Specifically, the court ruled, "Your request to have this juror remain seated is denied. The challenge is accepted." Counsel did not object to the court's characterization of his Batson/Wheeler motion as a motion "to have this juror remain seated." (3RT 972.)

Although he had peremptory challenges remaining when the court reseated Prospective Juror 2473 (see 3RT 948), appellant's trial counsel did not use any such challenges to excuse that juror. Prospective Juror 2473 thus sat as a juror during appellant's trial. (See 3RT 999, 1201.)

On appeal, appellant claimed that the trial court erred by failing to obtain his consent to the alternative *Batson/Wheeler* remedy of reseating Prospective Juror 2473 instead of declaring a mistrial and ordering a new venire. The People argued that appellant implicitly consented to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Counsel indicated that "Juror Number Seven" was the other African-American the prosecutor had excused. (3RT 968.) It appears counsel was referring to Prospective Juror 2841, against whom the prosecutor used a peremptory challenge before challenging Prospective Juror 2473. (3RT 942.)

alternative remedy when his counsel failed to object to the remedy, and that counsel otherwise demonstrated by his conduct that he consented to the alternative procedure. The Court of Appeal agreed with appellant and reversed his judgment of conviction without a harmless error analysis. (Opn. at p. 8.) Specifically, the Court of Appeal found that there was no reason to use an alternative Batson/Wheeler remedy in this case because there was nothing to suggest that using the "standard" remedy of mistrial and dismissal of the venire was likely to reward the offending party. (Opn. at pp. 6-7.) The Court of Appeal further held that appellant's consent to the alternative remedy could not be inferred from his trial counsel's conduct because, inter alia: the court did not ask appellant to suggest or select a remedy, and appellant did not suggest reseating the juror; appellant did not ask the prospective juror to remain seated while he made the Batson/Wheeler motion at sidebar; the court did not ask the parties if they wished to comment on the chosen alternative remedy; counsel did not have a second opportunity to express dissatisfaction with the chosen remedy because the prosecutor did not move for reconsideration of the Batson/Wheeler motion; counsel's request for Prospective Juror 0207 to remain seated while counsel made another Batson/Wheeler motion at sidebar reflected only counsel's "recognition of, and decision to comply with, the earlier procedure"; and counsel did not explicitly "submit" to the court's chosen remedy. (Opn. at pp. 7-8.)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeal erred by reversing appellant's conviction on the ground that the trial court did not obtain his counsel's consent to the alternative *Batson/Wheeler* remedy of reseating Prospective Juror 2473. First, the Court of Appeal inappropriately limited this Court's prior holding that alternative *Batson/Wheeler* remedies are available by finding that such remedies are only available in circumstances where the offending party will

be rewarded by the "usual" remedy of a mistrial and dismissal of the venire. Not only did this Court fail to limit its holding to such situations, but some of its stated purposes for allowing alternative remedies—to assist in the expeditious processing of cases for trial, and to deter parties in future cases from purposefully engaging in racial discrimination in order to obtain a new venire—would not be served if the holding were so limited. Thus, alternative *Batson/Wheeler* remedies are available in all cases, including this one, regardless of whether mistrial and dismissal of the remaining venire would reward the offending party.

Moreover, the Court of Appeal erred in not finding that consent to an alternative Batson/Wheeler remedy can be inferred from the moving party's failure to object. Consent to an alternative remedy is not a fundamental right, but simply a prophylactic rule generated by this Court. Thus, consent in this context is subject to the usual rule that consent may be implied from the failure to object. Inferring consent from the failure to object also serves the important purpose of ensuring fairness and confidence in trial proceedings, so that a defendant may not remain silent in the face of an alternative Batson/Wheeler remedy, causing the trial court and prosecutor to believe the remedy is acceptable, and then, if the verdict is unfavorable, obtain a reversal on appeal on the ground that the remedy was not acceptable. Alternatively, if the failure to object alone does not imply consent to an alternative Batson/Wheeler remedy, consent may otherwise be inferred from the totality of the circumstances. In this case, appellant's trial counsel's conduct clearly demonstrated his consent to the reseating of Prospective Juror 2473. The Court of Appeal incorrectly found that counsel's conduct did not demonstrate consent simply because that conduct did not amount to the conduct of counsel in another Court of Appeal case where consent was inferred.

Lastly, the Court of Appeal erred by implicitly finding that the failure to obtain consent to an alternative Batson/Wheeler remedy is reversible error per se. The requirement that a party must consent to an alternative remedy is not a federal constitutional right or a fundamental right. Thus, the violation of that requirement is not structural error, and the reversible per se standard does not apply. Instead, the error is of state law and therefore is subject to the harmless error standard for state-law violations: whether the error resulted in a miscarriage of justice such that it is reasonably probable the defendant would have achieved a more favorable result had the error not occurred. Applying that standard to this case, any error in reseating Prospective Juror No. 2473 was harmless. It is not reasonably probable counsel would have declined to consent to the reseating of Prospective Juror 2473 had he been asked to place his explicit consent on the record. Moreover, appellant cannot show that he was tried by a biased jury as he did not challenge any of the jurors for cause. Thus, it is not reasonably probable appellant would have achieved a more favorable result had he been tried by a different impartial jury that would have heard the same evidence.

The Court of Appeal's per se reversal of appellant's conviction for failure to obtain his counsel's explicit consent to an alternative *Batson/Wheeler* remedy fails on several levels. The opinion should be reversed, and appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE MOVING PARTY OF A SUCCESSFUL BATSON/WHEELER
MOTION IMPLICITLY CONSENTS TO A RESEATING
PROCEDURE BY FAILING TO OBJECT TO THIS AUTHORIZED
REMEDY

In all cases, when a party improperly exercises a peremptory challenge due to racial bias, the trial court may dismiss the venire and order

a new venire, or, with the moving party's assent, fashion an alternative remedy to the violation of the right to trial by a jury drawn from a representative cross-section of the community. Because the moving party's assent does not waive any fundamental right, but only demonstrates consent to an alternative remedy for a violation of a fundamental right, such assent can be implied. To avoid confusion in this context, and to conform with existing law, this Court should announce a rule that the moving party implicitly consents to an alternative *Batson/Wheeler* remedy by failing to object to the remedy. Alternatively, this Court should adopt a totality of the circumstances test to determine whether a party implicitly consented to an alternative remedy. Under either test, consent was present in this case.

A. With the Moving Party's Consent, a Trial Court Has Discretion to Remedy a *Batson/Wheeler* Violation by Methods Other Than Ordering a New Venire, Including Reseating the Challenged Prospective Juror

The Sixth Amendment to the federal Constitution and article I, section 16 of the California Constitution independently guarantee the right to trial by a jury drawn from a representative cross-section of the community. (*Taylor v. Louisiana* (1975) 419 U.S. 522, 528 [95 S.Ct. 692, 42 L.Ed.2d 690]; *Wheeler*, *supra*, 22 Cal.3d at p. 272.) In *Wheeler*, the California Supreme Court held that the use of peremptory challenges to strike prospective jurors on the basis of race violates this California constitutional guarantee. (*Wheeler*, *supra*, 22 Cal.3d at pp. 276-277.) Thereafter, the United States Supreme Court held that such a practice violates the right to equal protection of the laws under the Fourteenth Amendment of the federal Constitution. (*Batson*, *supra*, 476 U.S. at p. 89.)

Originally, the only option recognized for a *Wheeler* violation was to begin jury selection anew with a different venire. (*Wheeler*, *supra*, 22 Cal.3d at p. 282.) As this Court stated in *Wheeler*:

If the court finds that the burden of justification is not sustained as to any of the questioned peremptory challenges, the presumption of their validity is rebutted. Accordingly, the court must then conclude that the jury as constituted fails to comply with the representative cross-section requirement, and it must dismiss the jurors thus far selected. So too it must quash any remaining venire, since the complaining party is entitled to a random draw from an entire venire – not one that has been partially or totally stripped of members of a cognizable group by the improper use of peremptory challenges. Upon such dismissal a different venire shall be drawn and the jury selection process may begin anew.

(*Ibid.*, fn. omitted.) Eight years later, in *Batson*, the United States Supreme Court declined to propose a remedy and instead left to the state courts "how best to implement our holding," including "whether it is more appropriate in a particular case, upon a finding of [*Batson* error] for the trial court to discharge the venire and select a new jury from a panel not previously associated with the case, or to disallow the discriminatory challenges and resume selection with the improperly challenged jurors reinstated on the venire." (*Batson*, *supra*, 476 U.S. at p. 99, fn. 24, citations omitted.)

Following *Batson*, this Court reconsidered the sole California remedy for the use of group bias in peremptory challenges. (*People v. Willis* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 811 (*Willis*).) In *Willis*, defense counsel, who represented an African-American defendant, first moved to dismiss and replace the entire jury venire as underrepresentative of African-Americans. When that motion was denied, counsel attempted to remedy the perceived problem by using his peremptory challenges to exclude Caucasian males from the jury, thereby violating the People's right to a representative and impartial jury. (*Id.* at pp. 813-815.) After soliciting defense counsel's reasons for his peremptory challenges, the trial court found counsel had exercised discriminatory challenges due to group bias. (*Id.* at pp. 814-815.) With the People's assent, the court rejected a defense motion to dismiss the

remaining venire, and continued voir dire with the original venire. (*Id.* at pp. 814-816.)

On appeal, this Court rejected the defendant's argument that dismissal of the venire was the only available remedy for his own exercise of group bias. (Willis, supra, 27 Cal.4th at pp. 814, 822-824.) This Court held "that the trial court, acting with the prosecutor's assent, had discretion to consider and impose remedies or sanctions short of outright dismissal of the entire jury venire." (Id. at p. 814.) This Court observed that the Wheeler remedy of dismissal is not compelled by the federal Constitution (id. at p. 818; see Batson, supra, 476 U.S. at p. 99, fn. 24), and concluded that

the benefits of discretionary alternatives to mistrial and dismissal of the remaining jury venire outweigh any possible drawbacks. As the present case demonstrates, situations can arise in which the remedy of mistrial and dismissal of the venire accomplish nothing more than to reward improper voir dire challenges and postpone trial. Under such circumstances, and with the assent of the complaining party, the trial court should have the discretion to issue appropriate orders short of outright dismissal of the remaining jury, including . . . reseating any improperly discharged jurors if they are available to serve.

(Willis, supra, at p. 821.) Finding it "appropriate, and consistent with the ends of justice, to permit the complaining party to waive the usual remedy of outright dismissal of the remaining venire" (id. at p. 823), the Court nevertheless

stress[ed] that such waiver or consent is a prerequisite to the use of such alternative remedies or sanctions, for *Wheeler* made clear that "the complaining party is entitled to a random draw from an entire venire" and that dismissal of the remaining venire is the appropriate remedy for a violation of that right. [Citation.] Thus, trial courts lack discretion to impose alternative procedures in the absence of consent or waiver by the complaining party. On the other hand, if the complaining party does effectively waive its right to mistrial, preferring to take its chances with the remaining venire, ordinarily the court should

honor that waiver rather than dismiss the venire and subject the parties to additional delay.

(*Id.* at pp. 823-824.) The Court did not specify what constitutes consent to an alternative remedy or an effective waiver of the right to a mistrial and new venire. (See *People v. Overby* (2004) 124 Cal.App.4th 1237, 1242.)<sup>2</sup>

In finding that the trial court here "improperly utilized" the reseating remedy (Opn. at p. 8), the Court of Appeal found, "Nothing in the record in the present case indicates that the standard *Wheeler* remedy of mistrial and dismissal of the venire was likely to 'accomplish nothing more than to reward improper voir dire challenges and postpone trial.' (*Willis, supra, 27* Cal.4th at p. 821.)" (Opn. at 6-7). The Court of Appeal thereby limited the holding of *Willis* to allow alternative remedies only in cases in which, as in *Willis*, the party who made the improper challenges did so with the clear purpose of obtaining a new venire.

Nothing in *Willis*, however, limited the use of alternative *Batson/Wheeler* remedies to situations factually similar to *Willis*. The *Willis* Court made clear that the circumstances of that case demonstrated why alternative remedies should be available to trial courts; it did not limit the availability of alternative remedies to cases with those same circumstances. (*Willis, supra*, at p. 818.) Indeed, *Willis* emphasized that the availability of alternative remedies served the purposes of assisting courts with their "substantial and legitimate interest in the expeditious processing of cases for trial," and deterring "in future cases" the type of conduct in which the defense engaged in *Willis*. (*Id.* at pp. 817-818, 820, 822.) Both of these purposes can only be served by having alternative

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