IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF) No. S201413
CALIFORNIA,)
) Court of Appeal No. B226256
Plaintiff and Respondent,)
v.) Los Angeles County Superior Court
) No. BA366071
FRANCIS MATA,) .
)
Defendant and Appellant.)
)

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Appeal from the Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles

Honorable Norman Shapiro, Judge

SUPREME COURT FILED

OCT 1 5 2012

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

John P. Dwyer, SBN 106860 LAW OFFICES OF JOHN P. DWYER 601 Van Ness Ave., Suite E-115 San Francisco, CA 94102 415.885.4451

Attorney for Appellant FRANCIS MATA

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

which the trial proceeds," and are not "simply an error in the trial process itself." (*Id.* at pp. 309-310.) Structural errors are not subject to harmless error analysis; instead, they require automatic reversal.

Respondent contends that the trial court's failure to obtain counsel's consent to reseating No. 2473 was simply a "procedural error" (ROBM 22), by which it apparently means that the error was not one that rendered the trial fundamentally unfair, and thus should be amenable to harmless error analysis. Respondent reinforces this contention by noting that appellant was represented by competent counsel and tried by a neutral adjudicator. (ROBM 22, quoting *People v. Mil* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 400, 410, which quoted *Neder v. United States* (1999) 527 U.S. 1, 8.) Respondent's argument, however, fails to consider the different species of structural error, including errors for which a reviewing court will have "difficulty . . . assessing the effect of the error." (*Gonzalez-Lopez*, *supra*, 548 U.S. at p. 149, fn. 4.)

As this court recently observed in *People v. Aranda*, *supra*, the U.S. Supreme Court has identified three types of structural defects. Structural errors of the first type – on which respondent focuses – "deprive defendants of basic protections and necessarily render a criminal trial fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for determining guilt or innocence." (55 Cal.4th at p. 364, quoting *Neder*, *supra*, 527 U.S. at pp. 8-9, internal quotation marks and italics omitted.) But this court pointed out that there were two other types of structural errors.

In other pronouncements on the subject of structural error, however, the court has focused, not on the effect of the constitutional violation at trial, but on "the difficulty of assessing the effect of the error" or the "irrelevance of harmlessness."

(Aranda, supra, 55 Cal.4th at p. 364, quoting Gonzalez-Lopez, supra, 548 U.S. at p. 149, fn. 4.)

In Gonzalez-Lopez, the defendant had competent, retained counsel, but wanted a different retained counsel, who was not a member of the bar in which the district court sat. The district court denied the pro hac vice application of the counsel the defendant wanted to retain, a ruling that was later found to be erroneous under the local rules. (548 U.S. at pp. 142-143.) After holding that the district court's ruling also violated the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel of choice (id. at pp. 144-148), the high court considered whether the error was subject to harmless error analysis. The court rejected the dissent's contention that "fundamental unfairness" was the sole basis to decide if an error was structural. (Id. at p. 149, fn. 4, citing Neder, supra, 527 U.S. at p. 9.) Instead, the court held that other bases are "the difficulty of assessing the effect of the error" (id. at p. 149, fn. 4, citing Waller v. Georgia (1984) 467 U.S. 39, 49, fn. 9 [right to a public trial]; *Vasquez v. Hillery* (1986) 474 U.S. 254, 263-264 [selection of grand jury on improper criterial) and "the irrelevance of harmlessness" (ibid., citing McKaskle v. Wiggins (1984) 465 U.S. 168, 177, fn. 8 [denial of the right of self-representation]).

The Gonzalez-Lopez court held that the error in denying the defendant his retained counsel of choice, like the denial of a public trial, was the type of error whose effect was difficult to assess. Indeed, the court had "little trouble concluding that erroneous deprivation of the right to counsel of choice, 'with consequences that are necessarily unquantifiable and indeterminate, unquestionably qualifies as 'structural error.'" (548 U.S. at p. 150, quoting Sullivan, supra, 508 U.S. at p. 282.) The court explained that this was because different lawyers would approach the "myriad aspects of representation" in different ways. "It is impossible to know what different choices the rejected counsel would have made, and then to quantify the impact of those different choices on the outcome of the proceedings." (Ibid.)

Here, too, the consequences of having a hypothetical group of 12 jurors evaluate the evidence are "unquantifiable and indeterminate." Jurors properly bring to the jury room a wide range of life experiences; education and training; personalities; intellectual capabilities; and attitudes toward crime, the criminal justice system, police, and drug policy. (See *People v*. Loker (2008) 44 Cal.4th 691, 753 ["Jurors are expected to be fully functioning human beings, bringing diverse backgrounds and experiences to the matter before them."], quoting *People v. Leonard* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1370, 1414, internal quotation marks omitted.) As a result, jurors may vary significantly in their evaluation of the credibility of police and other witnesses, be more or less skeptical of circumstantial evidence or expert testimony, and have different interpretations of qualitative or semiquantitative legal standards (e.g., a "usable amount" of drugs). Jurors on one panel may assess the strength of the prosecution's case differently than jurors on another panel. In addition, the dynamics of jury deliberations will be different with different groups of jurors. Some groups of jurors work harmoniously and readily reach agreement on the verdicts, but others work contentiously and may reach compromise verdicts or no verdict at all. As in Gonzalez-Lopez, "[h]armless-error analysis in such a context would be a speculative inquiry into what might have occurred in an alternate universe." (548 U.S. at p. 150.)

Respondent relies on *People v. Rodriguez* (1996) 50 Cal.App.4th 1013 and *People v. Yeoman* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 93 to urge this court to engage in harmless error analysis. Both cases are inapt and readily distinguishable.⁴ In *Rodriguez*, the defendant brought a *Wheeler/Batson* motion when the prosecutor used a peremptory challenge to strike a

⁴ Respondent also cites *People v. Wright* (2012) 204 Cal.App.4th 1084, but after respondent's brief was filed this court granted review in that case. (*People v. Wright*, review granted July 18, 2012, S202433.)

potential alternate juror. The court granted the motion, but refused a defense request to dismiss the venire and instead ordered the prospective juror seated as an alternate. The prospective juror, however, already had left the courtroom and was never seated, and other alternates were chosen. (50 Cal.App.4th at p. 1019.) Significantly, during trial and deliberations, none of the alternates was ordered to replace a sitting juror; thus, the prospective juror, even if reseated, would not have served on the jury. (*Id.* at p. 1022.)

The Court of Appeal held the trial court erred in not dismissing the venire and re-commencing jury selection with a new panel. (*Id.* at pp. 1025-1026.) The Court of Appeal, however, was troubled that automatic reversal would waste judicial resources in the "singular scenario" (50 Cal.App.4th at p. 1017) of that case, namely, where the stricken prospective juror, even if seated as an alternate, would not have deliberated. After a lengthy review of other jury-selection cases, the court held that the error should not be reversible per se and that the error was in fact harmless. (*Id.* at pp. 1035-1036.)

The alternate juror the court found was improperly challenged peremptorily would not have sat on defendant's case, even if she had never been challenged in the first place. She was an alternate juror and no alternate juror was called upon to serve. The concern that her exclusion would have a pervasive effect on the trier of fact in defendant's case, or that it is impossible to determine the effect on the triers of fact, is simply not present. Therefore, we conclude the trial court's error was not "structural" but a "trial error," and must be analyzed to determine if it was harmless error.

(Id. at p. 1035.) The court was at pains to "emphasize" that its holding "is limited to the specific facts of this case: a peremptory challenge against an alternate juror who was never called upon to sit in judgment of the defendant. Whether to apply harmless error or a reversible per se test if the error involved a venireperson who actually sat as a member of defendant's

jury is not before this court today." (*Id.* at p. 1036.) *Rodriguez* thus has no application to the current case. (See *People v. Dickey* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 884, 901 ["It is axiomatic a decision does not stand for a proposition not considered by the court"].)

Yeoman presented a different situation. It did not involve a *Wheeler/Batson* violation. Rather, the trial court denied the defendant's challenges for cause of four jurors, whom the defendant later removed with peremptory challenges. (31 Cal.4th at p. 114.) Consistent with precedent, this court held that before it could reach the merits of the trial court's rulings the defendant must demonstrate that those rulings affected his right to an impartial jury. (*Ibid.*; see also *Ross v. Oklahoma* (1988) 487 U.S. 81, 85-86.) Because the defendant in *Yeoman* made no showing that any of the sitting jurors was biased, his appeal on this issue was rejected. (31 Cal.4th at p. 114.)

Although it predated *Gonzalez-Lopez*, *Yeoman* is consistent with the reasoning in that case. In *Gonzalez-Lopez*, the high court explained that ineffective assistance of counsel (IAC), in contrast to the denial of the right to counsel of choice, was not subject to automatic reversal in part because IAC consists of "identifiable mistakes." "We can assess how those mistakes affected the outcome." (548 U.S. at pp. 150-151.) Similarly, the impact of the error in cases like *Yeoman* can be assessed by inquiring whether any of the seated jurors, for whom there was a record of their responses in voir dire (and, in many cases, jury questionnaires), were biased.

By contrast, no such prejudice analysis is possible where the error is the denial of counsel of choice or the failure to conduct jury selection with a new venire. In *Gonzalez-Lopez*, the court explained that infinite various ways in which the two different lawyers would approach a case (one of whom whose handling of the case was hypothetical because he never appeared in the case) precluded a meaningful harmless error analysis.

To determine the effect of wrongful denial of choice of counsel, however, we would not be looking for mistakes committed by the actual counsel, but for differences in the defense that would have been made by the rejected counsel in matters ranging from questions asked on voir dire and cross-examination to such intangibles as argument style and relationship with the prosecutors. We would have to speculate upon what matters the rejected counsel would have handled differently – or indeed, would have handled the same but with the benefit of a more jury-pleasing courtroom style or a longstanding relationship of trust with the prosecutors. And then we would have to speculate upon what effect those different choices or different intangibles might have had. The difficulties of conducting the two assessments of prejudice are not remotely comparable.

(*Id.* at p. 151.)

Similarly, the trial court's error in not quashing the venire does not involve "identifiable mistakes" that would allow an appellate court to "assess how those mistakes affected the outcome." (548 U.S. at pp. 150-151.) Rather, it would involve "intangibles" in the variety of ways a different, hypothetical group of jurors would assess evidence and apply legal standards, and require the reviewing court to "speculate upon what effect those different choices or different intangibles might have had." As in *Gonzalez-Lopez*, and unlike in *Yeoman*, the difficulty of assessing the impact of the error precludes harmless error analysis.

B. The Sixth Amendment Bars Harmless Error Analysis Based On The Reviewing Court's Assessment Of What Verdicts Another Reasonable Jury Would Have Reached.

Quite aside from the practical difficulty of assessing how a hypothetical jury would evaluate the evidence at trial, a harmless error analysis by a reviewing court would violate appellant's Sixth Amendment right to a jury verdict. For that reason alone, the trial court's error in not quashing the venire is structural error and reversible per se.

In Sullivan v. Louisiana, supra, the trial court gave a deficient reasonable doubt instruction. Although a jury rendered a verdict in Sullivan, there was "no jury verdict within the meaning of the Sixth Amendment" because the jury did not find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. (Sullivan, supra, 508 U.S. at p. 280.) "There being no jury verdict of guilty-beyond-a-reasonable-doubt, the question whether the same verdict of guilty-beyond-a-reasonable-doubt would have been rendered absent the constitutional error is utterly meaningless." (Ibid., emphasis in Sullivan.) That is, an appellate court could not assess the impact of the instructional error on the verdict rendered by the jury because there was no valid verdict to review. Instead, harmless error analysis would necessarily, and improperly, focus on the verdict that a reasonable, hypothetical jury would have reached.

The most an appellate court can conclude is that a jury would surely have found petitioner guilty beyond a reasonable doubt — not that the jury's actual finding of guilty beyond a reasonable doubt would surely not have been different absent the constitutional error. That is not enough. [Citation.] The Sixth Amendment requires more than appellate speculation about a hypothetical jury's action, or else directed verdicts for the State would be sustainable on appeal; it requires an actual jury finding of guilty.

(*Ibid.*, emphasis in *Sullivan*; see also *id.* at p. 279 ["to hypothesize a guilty verdict that was never in fact rendered – no matter how inescapable the findings to support that verdict might be – would violate the jury-trial guarantee"].) Because harmless error analysis is inapplicable where the impact of the error could be measured only against a hypothetical jury, the deficient reasonable doubt instruction in *Sullivan* was structural error requiring automatic reversal.

The nature of the error here – that the trial court should have quashed the venire and selected a new jury from a new venire - also precludes the harmless error analysis demanded by the Sixth Amendment. Although a jury found appellant guilty, that jury should not have heard the case. Thus, the impact of the error cannot be measured against what the actual jury would have done absent the error because, absent the error, the actual jury would not have been the jury that rendered the verdict. Asking whether the error was harmless inevitably would force the reviewing court to ask what verdicts would have been rendered by the hypothetical jury that should have been chosen from a new venire. Because the Sixth Amendment forbids any harmless error analysis that requires "appellate speculation about a hypothetical jury's action" (id. at p. 280), any claim that the evidence was overwhelming or uncontested is beside the point (see id. at p. 279 [it would violate the Sixth Amendment to determine whether a properly chosen, hypothetical jury would render a guilty verdict, "no matter how inescapable the findings to support that verdict might be"]).

In short, the Sixth Amendment jury-trial guarantee prohibits harmless error review. For this reason, the trial court's error in not quashing the jury is reversible per se.

III. Alternatively, The Trial Court's Error Was Prejudicial.

Respondent contends that the error was harmless under the reasonable probability standard in *People v. Watson*, *supra*, 46 Cal.2d 818 (1) because there is no evidence that defense counsel wanted to dismiss the venire and that in fact he wanted to keep the jury for "tactical" reasons (ROBM 25); (2) because "any other jury" would have reached the same results (ROBM 26); and (3) because the jury that rendered the verdicts was unbiased (ROBM 25-26). Respondent's arguments are mistaken.

Respondent's first contention is beside the point because it simply attempts to re-argue, in the guise of harmless error, that the trial court did

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